S259999 In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

MOHAMMAD MOHAMMAD,

On Habeas Corpus.

Case No. _____

Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B295152 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BH011959 The Honorable William C. Ryan, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

Proposition 57 amended the California Constitution to provide for early parole consideration for persons convicted of nonviolent felonies. Does the text of Proposition 57 both preclude consideration of the ballot materials to discern the voters' intent and prohibit the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation from enacting implementing regulations that exclude inmates who stand convicted of both nonviolent and violent felonies from early parole consideration?

INTRODUCTION

To reduce state prison populations while at the same time protecting public safety, the Governor authored and the voters enacted Proposition 57, the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016. Proposition 57 made state prison inmates "convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" eligible for early parole consideration after completing the longest term of imprisonment imposed for any offense, excluding enhancements, consecutive sentences, and alternative sentences. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subds. (a)(1), (a)(1)(A); see Brown v. Superior Court (2016) 63 Cal.4th 335, 353.) But the initiative was not self-executing; it charged the Department with adopting regulations "in furtherance" of its provisions. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (b).) It also directed the Secretary to certify that the adopted regulations "protect and enhance public safety." (Ibid.) Using its broad rulemaking authority, the Department has adopted a number of implementing regulations. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3490-3497.) These regulations ensure that the voters receive what they were promised: a program that provides early parole consideration to tens of thousands of nonviolent offenders while keeping the public safe. (See generally Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) pp. 54-59 (Voter Guide).)

Twice in the last year, Division Five of the Second Appellate District has held a Proposition 57 implementing regulation to be inconsistent with the initiative. In both cases, the court has done so based on a limited and literal view of Proposition 57's text to the exclusion of other evidence of the voters' intent, and without the deference owed to administrative agency rulemaking. This Court has already granted review in the first of those cases, *In re Gadlin* (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 784, which involves the application of regulations withholding early parole consideration from any inmate who "is convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex offender" (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3491,

7

subd. (b)(3), 3496, subd. (b)). (*Gadlin*, review granted May 15, 2019, S254599, reply brief filed Dec. 26, 2019.) The Court should similarly grant review in this case, in which the same panel invalidated title 15, section 3490, subdivision (a)(5). The regulation excludes from early parole consideration any inmate who "is currently serving a term of incarceration for a 'violent felony." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(5).) The court held that the Department must give early parole consideration to any inmate convicted of a violent felony so long as the inmate was also convicted of at least one nonviolent felony.

The reasons for granting review in this case are compelling. As set out below, this case presents several important questions of law that have immediate precedential and practical effects, and that should be settled now. The Court of Appeal's literal and crabbed reading of isolated text of Proposition 57 may encourage courts engaged in interpretation to routinely stop at the text of initiatives—which will in many cases thwart the voters' intent, as it did in this case. And it may push the law governing construction of initiatives in a direction that curtails the power of administrative agencies to fill in the details of voter-enacted programs. Further, the legality of the regulatory exclusion for violent offenders profoundly affects the scope of the program and public safety. Without the regulation, over 90,000 violent felons will now be eligible for early parole consideration. This result contradicts both the purpose of Proposition 57 and the description of the program provided in the Official Voter Information Guide and will place a significant administrative strain on the Department.

Should it grant review in this case, the Court could order immediate briefing and hear *Gadlin* and this case together, or it could defer briefing until after this Court clarifies the law in its *Gadlin* decision. In any event, the Court of Appeal's decision in this case should not stand.

8

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2011, Mohammad was convicted of 15 felonies, most of which were violent within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c). Specifically, he pleaded no contest to nine counts of second-degree robbery (Pen. Code, § 211) and six counts of receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, § 496, subd. (a)), and he admitted that all of his crimes were gang related (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)). The court sentenced him to an aggregate determinate term of 29 years in state prison. (Opn. 2; Attachment to Petn. for Writ of Habeas Corpus, B295152, foll. p. 6, Attachment to Amended Petn. for Writ of Habeas Corpus, B295152.)¹

On November 8, 2016, California voters approved Proposition 57. The initiative added article I, section 32 to the California Constitution, which, in relevant part, provides that "[a]ny person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1).) It further provides that "[t]he Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety." (*Id.*, subd. (b).)

¹ The aggregate term consisted of a principal term of three years for one of the counts of receiving stolen property, consecutive subordinate terms of eight months for each of the five remaining counts of receiving stolen property, consecutive subordinate terms of one year for each of the nine counts of second-degree robbery, a consecutive gang enhancement of four years on the principal term, consecutive gang enhancements of three years eight months on two of the violent subordinate offenses, and consecutive gang enhancements of one year on three of the nonviolent subordinate offenses. (Attachment to Amended Petn. for Writ of Habeas Corpus, B295152.)

The Department initiated a public rulemaking process and promulgated implementing regulations. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3490-3497.) The regulations generally provide that any inmate who qualifies as a "nonviolent offender" is eligible for early parole consideration. In order to qualify as a nonviolent offender, an inmate cannot be "currently serving a term of incarceration for a 'violent felony'" within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c). (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(5).)

In 2018, after exhausting his administrative remedies, Mohammad filed a habeas petition in the superior court alleging that the Department erred in excluding him from early parole consideration. (See Attachment to Petn. for Writ of Habeas Corpus, B295152, foll. p. 6.) The court denied the petition, explaining that Mohammad is not a nonviolent offender under the current regulations in light of his several convictions for the violent crime of second-degree robbery. (*Ibid.*)

In 2019, Mohammad challenged the regulations by filing a habeas petition in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five. On November 26, 2019, the Court of Appeal issued a 13-page published decision granting the writ. (Opn. 14.) The court looked to the text of Proposition 57 for affirmative evidence that "a 'consecutive sentence' is disqualifying if it is a consecutive term for a violent felony." (Opn. 8.) Not finding express permission for the regulatory exclusion, the court concluded that the regulation was "at war" with the text. (Opn. 10.) In addition, the court declined to consider any evidence of voter intent beyond the text of the initiative. (Opn. 10.) The court ordered the Department to consider Mohammad for Proposition 57 parole. (Opn. 8-10, 14.) It further ordered the Department to repeal title 15, section 3490, subdivision (a)(5) of the California Code of Regulations and to make changes to the regulations as necessary to conform to its decision. (Opn. 14.)

The Department did not request rehearing, and the Court of Appeal's decision became final on December 26, 2019.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY WHETHER AND WHEN COURTS SHOULD MOVE BEYOND THE TEXT OF AN INITIATIVE TO UNDERSTAND THE VOTERS' INTENT

The Court of Appeal held that "[t]here is nothing ambiguous about what section 32(a)(1) means in this case, and there is accordingly no cause to look beyond the text to ballot materials or other extrinsic evidence of the voters' intent." (Opn. 10.) This Court should grant review to clarify whether and under what circumstances the text of an initiative can be so unambiguous that courts (and implementing agencies) are precluded from considering other sources of the voters' intent.

This Court has discouraged narrow and overly literal interpretations of initiatives, which may work against intent. (See, e.g., *People v. Valencia* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 358-360; *Arias v. Superior Court* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 979 [stating that "literal construction" of an initiative is not proper "when such a construction would frustrate the manifest purpose of the enactment as a whole"].) The Court of Appeal was aware of these precedents. (Opn. 11.) Still, it refused to read beyond an isolated phrase in subdivision (a)(1), resulting in real, adverse consequences for the early parole consideration program.

As the Court of Appeal recognized, its decision results in a program whereby "a defendant who is convicted of *more* crimes, i.e., both violent and nonviolent felonies, [is] eligible for early parole consideration while a defendant convicted of *fewer* crimes, i.e., the same violent felony but no nonviolent felonies, is not." (Opn. 10, italics added.) This absurd outcome should have counseled against adopting this interpretation. (See, e.g., *Cal. School Employees Assn. v. Governing Bd.* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 333, 340 ["We

need not follow the plain meaning of a statute when to do so would 'frustrate[] the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole or [lead] to absurd results'"], citing *People v. Belleci* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 879, 884, internal quotations omitted.)

The result also contravenes the promises repeatedly made to voters, including by the Governor, that violent offenders would be excluded from the program. (Voter Guide, *supra*, rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.) Considering violent offenders like Mohammad for nonviolent parole is an unintended outcome that courts should strive to avoid when construing an initiative measure. (See, e.g., *Hodges v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 109, 118 [rejecting interpretation because "[n]othing in the legislative history of the initiative suggests that the voters intended that result"].)

Moreover, the Court of Appeal itself acknowledged that its refusal to consider the materials in the Voter Guide "bespeaks a certain self-aware naivete about what most voters do and do not read before going into the voting booth." (Opn. 11.) Voters are not career legislators who regularly write and parse proposed laws. Nor should they have the responsibility to return repeatedly to the ballot box to obtain what they are promised. (See Opn. 11 ["[i]f voters want a different result, the ballot box is open . . . to change what the Constitution now says"].) Rather, voters should be able to rely on the clear promises made by the government in the Voter Guide about an initiative's scope and reach.

Review offers the opportunity not only to clarify the law, but to restore to the voters the program they intended. "For a court to construe an initiative statute to have substantial unintended consequences strengthens neither the initiative power nor the democratic process" (*Ross v. RagingWire Telecommunications, Inc.* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 920, 930.)

12

II. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY THE IMPORTANT ROLE OF AGENCIES IN IMPLEMENTING ADMINISTRATIVE PROGRAMS ENACTED BY INITIATIVE

The Court of Appeal was dismissive of the Department's critical role in implementing Proposition 57, stating that its "regulatory approach is founded on a misinformed offender-based premise." (Opn. 9.) But Proposition 57 established only a bare framework for an early parole consideration program for nonviolent offenders and expressly contemplated that the Department and its Secretary would fill in the details of that program by regulation, consistent with the voters' intent and public safety. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (b).) The Court should grant review to clarify whether and to what extent an expert agency's regulatory efforts designed to carry out a complex administrative program enacted by the voters are entitled to deference.

The Department has deep expertise on the issues surrounding parole and public safety, and, in addition, has broad quasi-legislative rulemaking authority that preexisted Proposition 57. (*See In re Cabrera* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 683, 688.) The Legislature has recognized the Department's "primary objective" is to maintain "public safety," meaning "public safety achieved through punishment, rehabilitation, and restorative justice." (Pen. Code, §§ 1170, subd. (a)(1), 5000.) It is the core job of expert administrative agencies like the Department to "to implement, interpret, or make specific the law enforced" in addition to make rules that "govern its procedure." (Gov. Code, § 11342.600; see, e.g., *Assn. of Cal. Ins. Companies v. Jones* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 376, 393; *Moore v. Cal. State Bd. of Accountancy* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 999, 1013-1014.) In many cases, as with Proposition 57, the lawmaking body outlines the "fundamental policy determinations" and vests an agency with "reasonable grants of power" to interpret, apply, and implement the legislation. (*People v. Wright* (1982) 30 Cal.3d 705, 712.)

In the Department's view, while Proposition 57 specified that an inmate "convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" would be eligible for early parole consideration (Cal. Const., art. I, §32, subd. (a)), the use of the singular article "a" did not clearly mean that any nonviolent felony required consideration for early parole. The measure did not elaborate on the quoted phrase, and other indicia of the voters' intent suggested that any violent felony should be disqualifying (see previous section). The uncertainty as to the meaning of "convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" is the type of ambiguity that is appropriately resolved through agency rulemaking. (See *Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 245-247 [observing that subsequent legislative and regulatory definitions "resolved" the alleged uncertainties in the constitutional provision].)

This case is particularly worthy of this Court's review because the Department exercised its authority in a way that is eminently reasonable. Its exclusion of violent offenders from early parole consideration closely follows this Court's observation in *Brown* that the Proposition 57 program "would apply only to prisoners convicted of non-violent felonies" (*Brown*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 352) or, put another way, to a particular "class of offenders, so long as their offense was nonviolent" (*id.* at p. 353). So too is the exclusion of violent offenders consistent with the nonpartisan materials in the Voter Guide, which repeatedly described Proposition 57 as providing early parole consideration for "nonviolent offenders." (Voter Guide, *supra*, analysis of Prop. 57, pp. 56, 58.) Even the proponents of Proposition 57 promised the voters that "[*v*]*iolent criminals* as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) are excluded from parole." (*Id.*, rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59, original italics.)

III. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE, AS A PRACTICAL MATTER, THE VALIDITY OF THE VIOLENT OFFENDER EXCLUSION FROM NONVIOLENT PAROLE CONSIDERATION PRESENTS AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW

The court's cursory invalidation of the Department's violent offender exclusion warrants further review by this Court, if only because of the very real practical effects it will have on the scope and administration of the early parole consideration program and public safety.

In analyzing Proposition 57's proposed program, the Legislative Analyst wrote: "As of September 2015, there were about 30,000 individuals in state prison who would be affected by the parole consideration provisions of the measure. In addition, about 7,500 of the individuals admitted to state prison each year would be eligible for parole consideration under the measure." (Voter Guide, *supra*, analysis of Prop. 57, p. 56.) These numbers are in line with the current population of parole-eligible inmates under the Department's regulations, which is approximately 26,527 inmates.

But there are more than 90,000 inmates statewide who (i) are currently incarcerated for both violent and nonviolent felonies, (ii) were excluded from Proposition 57's parole process under the Department's regulations, and (iii) would now be eligible should the Court of Appeal's decision stand. Following the Court of Appeal's decision, the number of parole-eligible inmates will balloon to approximately 119,375 inmates nearly a *four-fold increase* from what the voters expected. This would encompass virtually all 124,363 state inmates currently in the Department's custody. (See Division of Correctional Policy Research and Internal Oversight, Weekly Report of Population as of Dec. 18, 2019 <https://www.cdcr.ca.gov/research/wp-content/uploads/sites/174/2019/12/ Tpop1d191218.pdf> [as of December 22, 2019].) Flooding the nonviolent parole process with nearly all the violent offenders in the Department's custody would not only frustrate the voters' intent, but also burden the Board of Parole Hearings, increase the risk that persons who may reoffend will be released, and encumber the process to the detriment of the nonviolent offenders who are Proposition 57's intended beneficiaries.² This Court should grant review to examine more closely whether the regulation is within the Department's broad rulemaking authority and consistent with the text and intent of Proposition 57.

² The decision below creates constitutional problems where none existed before. The Department's regulations treat all violent offenders equally, disqualifying all from early parole consideration. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(5).) Without the regulatory exclusion, those violent offenders who committed additional nonviolent crimes are favored. This disparity in treatment raises equal protection concerns. (See, e.g., *People v. McKee* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1202.) Courts must avoid construing a law in way that would create constitutional problems so long as "any other possible construction remains available." (*People v. Garcia* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 792, 804, internal quotations omitted.) This is another signal that a more searching analysis of voter intent with respect to the validity of the Department's regulation is warranted.

CONCLUSION

The Court should grant the petition for review.