## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S259999

In re MOHAMMAD MOHAMMAD on Habeas Corpus. Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Five No. B295152

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. BA361122 Hon. William C. Ryan

### Answer to Petition for Review

Michael Satris (SBN # 67413) Law Office of Michael Satris PO Box 337 Bolinas, CA 94924 (415) 868-9209 fax: (415) 868-2658 satrislaw.eservice@gmail.com

Attorney for Petitioner Mohammad Mohammad

## **

### **Question Presented**

Does Proposition 57 entitle Mohammad to early parole consideration where he was sentenced to an aggregate term of 29 years that consisted of a principal term for a nonviolent felony conviction and subordinate terms for offenses that included violent felony convictions?

#### Argument

This Court may grant review of a decision by a Court of Appeal "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The petition fails to show any such need. Rather, as explained below, this case is not worthy of this Court's consideration.

### I. The Court Should Deny the Petition for Review as Unnecessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision or Settlement of an Important Question of Law.

"California voters approved Proposition 57, dubbed the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016, at the November 2016 general election." (*In re Edwards* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 1181, 1185.) Among other things, Proposition 57 added section 32 to the California Constitution, which provides for early parole consideration and additional credit-earning "to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a) [hereafter § 32(a)].)

"Section 32(a) grants eligibility for early parole consideration to any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense after completing the full term of his or her primary offense." (Typ. opn. 6, quoting § 32(a)(1); see also *id*. at p. 3. [same].) "The newly enacted constitutional provision further states 'the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.' (§ 32(a)(1)(A)." (*Id*. at p. 3.)

"There is no dispute that [Mohammad's] primary offense as the Constitution defines it ("the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense") is the principal term prison sentence he received for the count 11 receiving stolen property conviction" – a nonviolent offense. (Typ. opn. 9.) "Nor is there any dispute that the 'full term' in prison for that conviction, 'excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence' was three years. Therefore, under the plain meaning of section 32(a)(1), Mohammad is eligible for early parole consideration now that he has served three years in prison." (Typ. opn. 9.)

The Court of Appeal's reasoning here is simple, straightforward, and uncontroversial. Yet CDCR resists it, citing cases of this Court to the effect that a "literal construction" of an initiative must bow to the "manifest purpose of the enactment as a whole." (Petn. Rev. 11.) But in its next breath CDCR admits that "t]he Court of Appeal was aware of these precedents." (Petn. Rev. 11, citing typ. opn. 11.) Thus, there is no need to grant review here to secure uniformity of decision.

The Court of Appeal added: "The Constitution's text compels the result we reach, and we are not prepared to declare that result so absurd [citation] as to disregard the Constitution's plain meaning—and, indeed, the Attorney General does not ask us to." (Typ. opn. 11.) Yet, the Attorney General now seeks to enlist this Court to do so. (See, e.g., typ. opn. 11 ["This absurd outcome should have counseled against adopting this interpretation."].) (Petn. Rev. 11.) This Court should not indulge the Attorney General's argument at this point in the litigation.

CDCR also fails in its attempt to utilize this Court's decision in *Brown v. Superior Court* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 335 to further its cause. (See Petn. Rev. 14.) *Brown* has no relevance here because *Brown* did not interpret Proposition 57's language. Not having considered the scope or meaning of this language, "[the] opinion is not authority for propositions not considered." (*Chevron U.S.A.*,

#### Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182,

1195.). *Brown* thus offers no insight on or guide to construction of the critical text here.

Brown, rather, simply engaged in a comparative analysis of the two versions of the ballot measure then at issue to determine if the changes comported with the Election Code's requirements. (See Brown v. Superior Court, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 339.) In doing so, the Court made clear that its decision was limited to the resolution of the Election Code issues before it, with "no consideration to possible interpretive or analytical problems that might arise should the measure become law." (See *id.* at p. 352, fn. 11.) Even so, the Court there emphasized that the amended ballot measure expanded parole consideration to "all state prisoners 'convicted of a non-violent felony offense."" (*Id.* at p. 341, italics in original.)

Having failed to establish any need to grant review to secure uniformity of decision, CDCR posits that this Court should grant review to settle an issue of law that is important "because of the very real practical effects [the opinion] will have on the scope and administration of the early parole consideration program and public safety." (Petn. Rev. 15.) To make its case here, CDCR argues that "more than 90,000 inmates statewide ... would now be eligible should the Court of Appeal's decision stand." (Petn. Rev. 15.)

CDCR reaches its outlandish number only by misconstruing the opinion as applying to all "inmates ... who ... are currently incarcerated for both violent and nonviolent felonies." (Typ. opn. 15.) But the opinion by its own terms applies only to inmates like Mohammad, whose nonviolent felony conviction is his primary

 $\mathbf{7}$ 

offense under the proposition. (Again, see typ. opn. 9 ["There is no dispute that [Mohammad's] primary offense as the Constitution defines it ... is the principal term prison sentence he received for" a nonviolent offense].) Presumably, a nonviolent offense rarely will be designated the principal term with a violent offense subordinated to it, as here occurred pursuant to Mohammad's plea -- and the Court of Appeal recognized as much. (See typ. opn. 12, incl. fn. 3.) In this regard, the Court of Appeal aptly observed:

[I]t bears emphasizing that Mohammad's case is an unusual one. The court at Mohammad's sentencing designated one of the receiving stolen property convictions—i.e., one of the nonviolent felonies—as the principal term of Mohammad's sentence. Often, however, an inmate convicted of both violent and nonviolent felonies will have the most serious of his or her violent felonies set as the principal term. Thus, the situation we confront in this case when an inmate becomes eligible for early parole consideration before serving time for any of his or her violent felony offenses will not frequently arise.

(Typ. opn. 12.)

The Court of Appeal accordingly found that "[t]he only certain consequence of our decision is that the Board of Parole Hearings will be busier" (typ. opn. 6) -- but by all appearances not very much busier. (See also typ. opn. 12 ["So the bottom line consequence of our decision today is that more inmates like Mohammad will receive individualized parole consideration earlier than they otherwise would have." (Typ. opn. 12.) The answer to CDCR's protest that the Court of Appeal's decision will "increase the risk that persons who may reoffend will be released," contrary to voter intent (typ. opn. 16), can be found in that court's opinion itself:

If the Board is convinced one of these inmates poses no unacceptable risk to public safety, the Board can approve the inmate for release; if instead there are violent aspects of an inmate's history that were not part of an early parole hearing eligibility determination, the Board can take those into account and issue a parole denial where it deems it prudent

(Typ. opn. 13.) Thus, the lower court's opinion is fully consistent with both the letter and the spirit of the constitutional provision at issue here, which aims to reduce the prison population by advancing the parole of as many non-dangerous prisoners as possible to the benefit of all. Again, the provision's purposes are "to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law." (§ 32(a).)

## Conclusion

For these reasons, the Court should deny CDCR's petition for review.